BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PEOPLE'S RESTAURANT, INC.,  
etc., et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

CASE NO: 76,811

MARY SABO,

Respondent.

---

FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 26 1990

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

BY

Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER,  
PEOPLE'S RESTAURANT, INC.

ELIZABETH C. WHEELER  
ROBERT J. JACK  
Smalbein, Johnson, Rosier, Bussey,  
Rooney & Ebbets, P. A.  
P. O. Box 531086  
Orlando, FL 32853-1086  
(407)423-7287  
Florida Bar No: 374210  
Florida Bar No: 367265  
Attorneys for Petitioner,  
People's Restaurant, Inc.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The petitioner, PEOPLE'S RESTAURANT, INC., shall be referred to by proper name or as the "Petitioner." The respondent, MARY SABO, will be referred to by proper name or as the "Respondent." References to the record will be indicated as (R.\_\_\_\_).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was certified by the Fifth District Court of Appeal as expressly and directly conflicting with the decision of the Second District in Ellis v. N.G.N. of Tampa, Inc., 561 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990). Both courts interpreted Section 768.125, Florida Statutes (1983), as to the knowledge required before commercial providers of liquor may be subjected to civil liability for a patron's self-inflicted injuries or injuries to others caused by the patron's drunken condition. The Second District in Ellis held that the statute required the vendor to be notified in writing of an habitual drunkard's addiction. The Fifth District in the instant case held that the knowledge required by the statute could be proved by circumstantial evidence.

This case was appealed to the Fifth District by Respondent. (R.291) The Respondent had filed an Amended Complaint against Petitioner, alleging that Daniel Lee Hoag was an habitual drunkard, that Petitioner served alcoholic beverages to Hoag knowing that he was an habitual drunkard, that Hoag became intoxicated, and that Respondent suffered damages as a result of Hoag's intoxicated condition.

(R.104-23) Respondent was a passenger in a vehicle involved in an accident with a vehicle operated by Hoag on November 13, 1983. (R.109)

Petitioner moved for summary judgment in its favor.  
(R.231-33) Petitioner argued there were no disputed facts relating to whether or not People's Restaurant or any of its employees had knowledge that Daniel Hoag was habitually addicted to alcohol at the time of this incident. (R.4) Conceding that knowledge of habitual addiction was the primary issue in the case and that knowledge of intoxication was not an element for which a liquor vendor could be held civilly liable for damages under Section 768.125, Respondent argued that knowledge of Hoag's alleged habitual drunkenness could be inferred from circumstantial evidence. (R.14-15; 17)

Respondent argued that the following facts constituted sufficient evidence to create a jury issue as to whether People's had knowledge of Hoag's alleged addiction:

1. Attendance at Petitioner's bar a minimum of twice a week;
2. The number of drinks, allegedly doubles, Hoag consumed;
3. Hoag's obvious intoxication at the bar on at least two prior occasions;
4. Common knowledge that persons addicted to alcohol can consume alcohol at a higher rate and still function; and
5. Hoag's consumption of fifteen drinks at one prior sitting when the bartender did not feel he was intoxicated.

(R.21-22) Respondent argued that the question of habitual

addiction would arise with anyone who drank to excess and to the point of intoxication. (R.23)

The trial court entered summary judgment in favor of Petitioner. (R.290) Finding material issues of fact as to whether Petitioner knowingly served Hoag sufficient alcoholic drinks to render him intoxicated, with the knowledge that Hoag was habitually addicted to the use of alcoholic beverages, the Fifth District reversed the summary judgment. On September 13, 1990, the district court granted Petitioner's motion for certification to this court. Petitioner filed its Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction on October 12, 1990.



STATEMENT OF FACTS

Daniel Lee Hoag had been going to People's Restaurant for a year and a half to two years prior to November 4, 1983.

(R.140) He went to People's no less than thirty times and probably more prior to that date. (R.140, 178) He testified he went there two or three times a week in the six or seven months immediately prior to the accident. (R.141, 217-18)

Hoag always went to the bar with the intention of getting "buzzed up." (R.179) He usually accomplished his mission. (R.179) In his opinion he probably got drunk each time he went to People's. (R.153, 179-80)

Hoag got to know the two female bartenders at People's. (R.141, 176) He always sat at the bar and talked to them. (R.177) The bartenders knew him well as a customer but did not know him personally. (R.177-78) The bartenders knew Hoag well enough to start fixing his drink when he came in. (R.141, 177)

As Hoag sat at the bar, the bartender would have a good view of his movements. (R.206) The bartender would stand within four feet of him and would be close enough to see whether his eyes were glassy or bloodshot. (R.208) The bartender would also be in a position to judge his speech. (R.208) When Hoag left the bar to go to the lavatory, the

bartender would be in a position to observe him as he walked. (R.208-09) He had no knowledge of ever slipping or falling over tables or chairs while at People's. (R.209)

Hoag always tried to make it for happy hour. (R.142, 179) Happy hour at People's was from 4:00 to 7:00 P.M. (R.262) During happy hour the bar would serve double the customary amount of liquor in a drink. (R.262)

In Hoag's opinion, the employees at People's should have known when he reached the point of being drunk. (R.143-44) After he had a few drinks at the bar, he would become talkative and begin laughing and giggling. (R.183) He would become an authority on any subject. (R.183)

Hoag did not know whether he ever had any difficulty walking at People's. (R.198) He did not remember ever slurring his words. (R.201) He did not recall the bartender ever telling him she could not understand him. (R.202) In the six months before the accident, he was always able to physically walk out of People's Restaurant. (R.215)

Hoag had no recollection that People's had ever cut him off when he reached the point of being intoxicated. (R.144-45, 180) If he had been told to leave, there was always another bar that would serve him. (R.222) He was rarely refused service at any place where he drank. (R.220-22)

Hoag's favorite drink was a white Russian. (R.139) He testified that Diane Ringlund, one of the bartenders at People's, told him sometime prior to November 4, 1983, that the management would no longer give him two-for-one white Russians during happy hour because of the expense involved. (R.146-47) A White Russian contains two different types of liquor.

(R.142-43) Diane also told him not to worry because she would "take care of" Hoag. (R.147, 189) Hoag watched her free pour his drinks and felt he was getting his money's worth. (R.147)

Diane Ringlund worked as a bartender at People's from 1981 or 1982 until July, 1984. (R.33) Her supervisor testified that Ringlund was the single best bartender who ever worked for him. (R.259) Other bartenders were nowhere near as responsible as Ringlund in making sure that her customers were not intoxicated when she knew they would be driving after leaving the bar. (R.258)

Ringlund knew Dan Hoag the entire time she worked at People's. (R.36) He was one of her regular customers. (R.36) Hoag initially came in every Friday night. (R.36-38) For around the first four months of 1983, Hoag also came in one or two other nights a week because his friend Mark was dating one of the cocktail waitresses. (R.37) After the first four months, Mark moved to Michigan and Hoag came in less frequently. (R.38) His visits tapered off to once a month. (R.38)

Ringlund did not know if Hoag drank anywhere else but People's. (R.11) When he came to People's, he always drank white Russians. (R.39) A white Russian as mixed by Ringlund contained one and a half ounces of liquor, consisting of an ounce of vodka and half an ounce of Kahlua, and milk. (R.39) If Hoag was at People's for two hours, he would consume maybe four drinks. (R.39) It would take him about a half hour to finish a drink because he talked a lot. (R.39)

Ringlund saw Hoag intoxicated only two times. (R.40) Both times his friend Mark tried to get Hoag to drink by chiding him that he did not drink very much. (R.40) On both occasions when Ringlund felt Hoag was intoxicated, she refused to serve him and made sure that he had a ride home. (R.40)

On one occasion when he became intoxicated, Ringlund knew Hoag had been drinking before he and Mark arrived. (R.41) She did not let him have very much since it seemed like he had already had enough. (R.41) Hoag and Mark became upset because Ringlund told them she did not want to serve them anymore. (R.41-42)

On the other occasion when Ringlund felt Hoag was intoxicated, he had come from work. She knew that most construction workers sometimes drank beer at work. (R.42) Although Ringlund did not know whether Hoag had already been drinking, she felt that he had not been drinking that night before he came to People's. (R.42)

Hoag became drunk after about six or seven drinks that night. (R.43) Ringlund had seen him drink more than that before. (R.43) The most she had ever seen him drink was maybe fifteen drinks. (R.43) Hoag could always handle his liquor well. (R.43)

Ringlund worked as a bartender for ten years off and on. (R.43) After she came to know her customers, she could tell whether they were handling their liquor or not. (R.43) She did not consider Hoag to be a regular user of alcohol. (R.44)

The only time Ringlund ever saw Hoag drink a lot was when he was with Mark. (R.44) After Mark left Florida, Hoag cut back on his drinking. (R.44) He would have only one or two drinks. (R.44) Ringlund did not believe he was an alcoholic. (R.44)

On the day of the accident, Hoag followed his normal routine. (R.148, 186) He testified he had at least twelve beers and probably up to a case of beer during the day. (R.155-56, 186) Since it was payday, he left thirty or forty minutes early to go home and shower and get to the bank to cash his check. (R.148-49, 186) He consumed more alcohol, probably two or three beers, while he was getting ready and driving to the bank. (R.156, 187)

After cashing his check, Hoag went to People's Restaurant. (R.150) He arrived at People's at 5:00 or shortly thereafter. (R.46, 150, 188) The bar tab indicated he drank five white

Russians at People's. (R.(82), 150, 156, 190) Although he felt he had consumed more than five drinks, he had no knowledge of the exact number of drinks he had. (R.150, 212)

Pam Peeper met Hoag at the bar around 7:00 P.M. on November 4, 1983. (R.72) Hoag and Peeper had been dating for five or six years at the time. (R.199) When Peeper arrived, she could not tell whether Hoag was drunk or sober. (R.72) She stayed with him thirty minutes at the most before leaving. (R.73)

Peeper knew that Hoag was drinking that night. (R.73) Although she really did not notice how much he drank, she believed he probably had two white Russians. (R.74) She did not remember him ordering as she was too much involved in an argument they started almost immediately after she arrived. (R.73, 76)

Peeper testified that it was difficult for her to know if Hoag had had too much to drink. (R.77) No matter how much he drank, he never slurred his words or walked funny. (R.78) Even knowing him as she did, Peeper could not always tell if Hoag was drunk or had too much to drink. (R.78)

Peeper could not say whether Hoag had ever become intoxicated at People's. (R.80) She and Hoag went to places other than People's. (R.80) Although Peeper had seen Hoag intoxicated before, she did not know whether it was at People's. (R.80) According to Peeper, Hoag was a very moderate drinker. (R.80)

When they left the bar on the evening of November 4, 1983, Peeper thought that Hoag had had too much to drink. (R.85) She could not say that was true from the time she had arrived at People's. (R.85) It was dark, and she could not see the expressions on his face. (R.85)

Peeper watched Hoag back his truck out of the parking space, and he did not appear to have any difficulty. (R.94-95) She saw him on the road and did not notice anything out of the ordinary. (R.95) He did not appear to her to be drunk that day. (R.7)

Ringlund came to work at around 4:00 on the day of the accident. (R.46) That was the first time she had seen Hoag for a month or longer. (R.47) To her knowledge and in her opinion, he had not been drinking earlier before he came to People's. (R.47-48)

Ringlund talked with Hoag for a while. (R.47) She served him his usual drink. (R.48) He left around 7:00 with his girlfriend. (R.49)

Hoag looked fine to Ringlund when he left. (R.49) Although the bartenders at People's had the right to shut off customers who had been drinking to the point where their sobriety was questionable, it did not occur to Ringlund to refuse to serve Hoag that night. (R.50) He was eating hors d'oeuvres and did not seem to be a problem. (R.50-51) She felt he was 100 percent fine when he left the bar. (R.52)

When she learned about the accident, she was amazed because she would have picked "a million other nights" for Hoag to have an accident. (R.53) She honestly felt he was not drunk. (R.54)

When his deposition was taken on January 18, 1988, Hoag testified there was no doubt that he was habitually addicted to the use of alcohol in 1983. (R.182) That opinion was based on the fact that he drank a case of beer and a fifth of liquor a day and had been drinking everyday for twenty years. (R.213) He did not consider himself to be an alcoholic before joining Alcoholics Anonymous at Baker Correctional Institute in November, 1986. (R.214) He just felt that drinking was his way of life. (R.214) He was never diagnosed as an alcoholic. (R.205)

Hoag did not know whether he would have been able to voluntarily resist consuming alcohol in November, 1983. (R.225) In the previous ten years, he never wanted to stop drinking. (R.225) Since he never wanted to stop, he never made an effort to stop. (R.226)

Hoag's drinking did not interfere with his employment as a drywall mechanic. His job included framing, hanging, finishing, and spraying drywall and some interior construction. (R.164) He worked six days a week, nine hours every day. (R.134) He arose each day between 5:00 and 5:15 A.M. and was always on the job by 6:20 A.M. (R.135, 167) He usually worked until 4:30 or 5:00 P.M., except on Fridays when



he would leave early to get to the bank before it closed.

(R.135, 167)

Although he drank at work, he did his job as well as anyone. (R.173) He did not slur his words or have difficulty walking at work even after drinking twelve to eighteen beers. (R.204) In the six months prior to the accident, none of his co-workers or supervisors ever commented that he appeared to be intoxicated and a danger on the job site. (R.206)

Hoag described himself as a loner and a quiet person except when he was drinking hard liquor. (R.183) He could drink beer all day long and handle it. (R.183, 185) Although another person would probably know he had been drinking, that person would not be able to tell if he had had two or twenty drinks. (R.185) Hoag never took the chance of getting cut off by telling the bartenders or the manager at People's that he was feeling a little buzz or a little drunk. (R.184) He would stay there until he was drunk and then leave on his own. (R.184)

Hoag did not ask the employees at People's if they knew he was an alcoholic. (R.182) He never told anyone at People's Restaurant that he was an alcoholic. (R.204) Neither Hoag nor any member of his family ever put anything in writing requesting People's not to serve him alcoholic beverages. (R.212-13) To his knowledge, Pam Peeper never requested People's, either orally or in writing, not to serve him. (R.213)

Other references to the facts may be made during the argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

THE FIFTH DISTRICT ERRED IN INTERPRETING SECTION 768.125, FLORIDA STATUTES, AS IMPOSING CIVIL LIABILITY FOR DAMAGES ON A VENDOR OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES WHEN THERE IS ONLY CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THAT THE VENDOR KNOWINGLY SERVED ALCOHOL TO A PERSON HABITUALLY ADDICTED TO ALCOHOL.

The issue in this case is the type of proof required by Section 768.125, Florida Statutes, to establish that a vendor "knowingly serves a person habitually addicted to the use of . . . alcoholic beverages." Any effort to construe the statute must be undertaken in light of the legislative purpose behind the statute. This court in Migliore v. Crown Liquors of Broward, Inc., 448 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1984), held that by enacting Section 768.125, the legislature intended to limit the preexisting liability of alcoholic beverage vendors for damages caused by intoxicated persons.

In a well-reasoned opinion, the Second District in Ellis v. N.G.N. of Tampa, Inc., 561 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), concluded that the statute required written notice to a vendor before the vendor could be held liable for damages caused by the intoxication of a person habitually addicted to alcohol. The Fifth District reached a contrary result in the instant case. The Court held that the language in Section 768.125 did

not warrant an interpretation requiring direct evidence that bar employees knew that an adult was habitually addicted in order to hold the bar liable for damages inflicted by the intoxicated adult.

The Fifth District failed to recognize that, prior to adoption of Section 768.125, there was no common law liability of a liquor vendor for damages caused by an intoxicated adult to whom the vendor had furnished alcohol. The liability which had been recognized by Florida courts was a cause of action for negligence per se based on violation of the existing criminal statutes relating to the furnishing of alcoholic beverages. Since a vendor could be held responsible for civil damages only to persons injured by the unlawful dispensation of alcoholic beverages in violation of statute, it follows that a person injured by an adult who was habitually addicted to alcohol had no cause of action against the vendor who supplied the alcohol unless that person was one of the classes of people enumerated in Section 562.50, which imposed criminal penalties against a vendor who provided alcoholic beverages to persons habitually addicted to alcohol. Even as to the persons Section 562.50 was designed to protect, a prerequisite for their recovery of damages against the vendor was written notice by them to the vendor of the habitual drunkard's addiction.

The Fifth District failed to ascribe to the words of the statute their ordinary meaning. The word "knowingly" has been

defined as "with knowledge; consciously; intelligently; willfully; intentionally." Criminal statutes containing the word have been construed as requiring both intent and knowledge on the part of the accused to satisfy the legislative intent to limit the crime to those persons who consciously violate the law.

Rather than applying the plain meaning of the words chosen by the legislature, the Fifth District relied on cases holding that constructive notice is sufficient to hold a vendor liable for damages caused by furnishing alcohol to minors. The Fifth District ignored the fact that the legislature chose different words relating to liability for the sale of liquor to minors. The Court also ignored the obvious reasons why constructive knowledge is sufficient when service to minors is concerned.

A person's age is easily determined. A vendor cannot as easily determine that a customer is or is not habitually addicted to alcohol. As the Fifth District itself recognized, alcoholics tend to deny they have a drinking problem. Despite the fact that the alcoholic himself does not or will not admit that he is "habitually addicted" to alcohol, the Fifth District has placed the responsibility on vendors to make that determination or face the possibility of being held civilly liable for damages caused by the alcoholic's negligence.

Although the legislature did not define the term "habitually addicted," the dictionary definition of addiction

is "compulsive physiological need for a habit-forming drug." By using the word "addicted," the legislature clearly intended that liquor vendors be subjected to potential civil liability only for serving persons with a physiological need for alcohol. Use of the word "addiction" precluded any other interpretation of Section 768.125.

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