## THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 13 1990

PEOPLES RESTAURANT, INC., etc., et al.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 76,811

MARY SABO,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

On appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

AVA F. TUNSTALL, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No: 0379001 WILLIAM E. LAWTON, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No: 0163236 Dean, Ringers, Morgan & Lawton P.O. Box 2928 Orlando, FL 32802 (407) 422-4310Attorneys for Respondent



# IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

DEC 13 1990

MARY SABO,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Appellant,

vs.

APPEAL NO: 89-00388

SHAMROCK COMMUNICATIONS, INC., etc., et al.,

Appellees.

#### APPELLANT'S REPLY BRIEF

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Respondent, MARY SABO, shall be referred to by proper name or as the Respondent.

The Petitioner, PEOPLES RESTAURANT will be referred to by proper name or as the Petitioner.

References to the Record will be indicated as (R.).

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of Facts as outlined by the Petitioner but would add the following:

Hoag was no stranger to Peoples having frequented the establishment during the previous two years. (R. 36; 175) While Hoag usually went drinking at Peoples every Friday (R. 175), for the seven months prior to the accident he went to Peoples at least twice a week. (R 175)

The bartenders would always serve Hoag doubles (R. 188-189) even after a manager instructed them not to do so. (R. 189) Further, these drinks were lavishly "free-poured" meaning a shot glass measure was not used to limit the amount of alcohol in the drink. (R. 181)

For approximately eighteen years prior to the accident Hoag drank a case of beer a day at work. (R. 136; 169) To compound matters, every night after work Hoag would have a mixed drink or two at home and then head to local bars. (R. 174)

Hoag had no recollection of the time he left Peoples, or how he came to be involved in the accident at approximately 8 p.m. which resulted in severe injuries to Sabo. (R. 192; 195)

Other references to the facts may be made during the argument as needed.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District correctly interpreted F.S. §768.125 as imposing civil liability for damages on a vendor of alchoholic beverages when there is circumstantial evidence the vendor knowingly served a person habitually addicted to alcohol.

District Courts which have examined the degree of proof necessary for establishing a cause of action in the companion situation of selling alcohol to minors have consistently held circumstantial evidence is sufficient. Willis V. Strickland, 436 SO.2d 1011,1012 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), pet. rev. den. 446 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1984); Gorman v. Albertson's, Inc., 519 So.2d 1119, 1120 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1988); French v. City of West Palm Beach, 513 So.2d 1356, 1358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Burns v. Three of a Kind, 439 So.2d 1004, 1005 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) Service to minors must be done "willfully" which imparts a requirement of specific intent to do something the law forbids. Black's Law Dictionary, (5th ed. 1979) In contrast, service to those habitually addicted need only be done "knowingly" which requires a mere consciousness. Black's Law Dictionary (5th ed. 1979). The foreseeability of injury is the same and there is no reason circumstantial evidence can be utilized where the proof must be of a "willful" sale to a minor but cannot be used where proof must only be of "knowing" service of alcohol to an adult.

Further, negligence statute §768.125 should not be read in pari materia with criminal statute §562.50 to engraft onto the

former the written requirement of notice from the latter. To begin, the statutes, being enacted more than 45 years apart, are diverse in scope, aim and purpose and should not be read together. Singleton v. Larson, 46 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1950); Pritchard v. Jax Liquors, 499 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)

Secondly, had the legislature intended §768.125 to import a more specific and definite meaning, such as requiring written notice, it could easily have chosen words to express any limitation it wished to impose. American Bankers Life Assur. Co of Fla. v. Williams, 212 So.2d 777 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977) The legislature must be presumed to know the meaning of words and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1976)

If the statutes are read in pari materia such that written notification is necessary, this interpretation would lead to so restricted an application as to make that portion of §768.125 dealing with liability for adult customers virtually meaningless. The only way to give §768.125 validity is to accord the plain language its plain meaning that knowledge need not be by written notice alone. The interpretation which will sustain validity should be given preference over an interpretation that would destroy the purpose of the statute. City of St. Petersburg v. Siebold, 48 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1950).

Lastly, there was ample evidence in the record below regarding Peoples' knowledge of Hoag's addiction to alcohol to have precluded entry of a summary judgment. The facts, taken as a whole, lead to the logical conclusion that Hoag was habitually addicted to alcohol and that Peoples knew or should have known of the addiction. Where there is even the slightest doubt as to any issue of material fact, a summary judgment may not be entered. Connell v. Sledge, 306 So.2d 194 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), cert. dis., 336 So.2d 105 (Fla. 1976).

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE FIFTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED F.S. §768.125 AS IMPOSING CIVIL LIABIALITY DAMAGES ON A VENDOR OF ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES WHEN THERE IS CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE THE VENDOR KNOW-INGLY SERVED A PERSON HABITUALLY ADDICTED TO ALCOHOL.

Florida Statute §768.125 is a negligence statute which provides for a cause of action against a vendor who serves alcoholic beverages to minors or persons who are known to be habitually addicted to the use of alcohol when injury results from the intoxication. In particular it provides:

768.125 Liability for injury or damage resulting from intoxication.—A person who sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person of lawful drinking age shall not thereby become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such person, except that a person who willfully and unlawfully sells or furnishes alcoholic beverages to a person who is not of lawful drinking age or who knowingly serves a person habitually addicted to the use of any or all alcoholic beverages may become liable for injury or damage caused by or resulting from the intoxication of such minor or person.

As can be seen from the plain language of the statute, §768. 125 deals with two groups: minors and adults habitually addicted to alcohol. To establish liability, a vendor must "willfully and unlawfully" serve a minor or must "knowingly" serve an adult habitually addicted to alcohol. The statute is silent as to the reason, if any, for the different mental states of mind required to impose liability.

A "willful" sale to a minor requires knowledge that the

recipient is not of lawful drinking age. Willis v. Strickland, 436 So.2d 1011,1012 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983) pet. rev. den. sub nom., ABC Liquors, Inc. v. Willis, 446 So.2d 99 (Fla. 1984) However, no Florida court has required that direct evidence is necessary to state a cause of action. Rather, Florida courts consistently have held inculpatory knowledge of the age of a particular person may be proven by circumstantial evidence. Willis, supra at 1012; Gorman v. Albertson's, Inc, 519 So.2d 1119, 1120 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988); French v. City of West Palm Beach, 513 So.2d 1356,1358 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987); Burns v. Three of a Kind, 439 So.2d 1004, 1005 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)

Likewise, two district courts have held a plaintiff could use circumstantial evidence to prove a vendor knew or should have known the person served was habitually addicted to alcohol to access §768.125. <u>J.H. Pritchard v. Jax Liquors, Inc</u>, 499 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), rev. den. 511 So.2d 298 (1987); Sabo v. Shamrock Communications, 566 So.2d 267 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)

The case of <u>Pritchard</u> is almost identical to the situation in <u>Sabo</u> which is before this court. In <u>Pritchard</u>, Pritchard asserted Jax had served the tortfeasor alcoholic beverages "knowing at said time that the defendant was a person who was habitually addicted to the use of any or all alcoholic beverages." <u>Id.</u>, at 927 Further, the complaint alleged that Jax knew or should have known the danger inherent in serving the defendant. Id. Jax filed a Motion to Dismiss arguing the

complaint was deficient as it contained no allegation of written notice. <u>Id</u>. The trial court granted the motion but in a well-reasoned opinion, the First District Court of Appeal reversed and held that an action filed pursuant to F.S. §768.125 need not allege that a server of alcohol has received direct notice. Id. at 928.

It is generally accepted that the legislature is presumed to have known the fair meaning of its chosen language and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815,817 (Fla. 1976) A brief examination of the denotation of "willfully" and "knowingly" therefore may be helpful at this juncture.

Black's Law Dictionary 1434,1435 (5th ed. 1979) explains that an act or omission is "willfully" done if done voluntarily and intentionally and with the specific intent to do something the law forbids, or with the specific intent to fail to do something the law requires to be done; that is to say, with bad purpose either to disobey or to disregard the law.

Black's at 784 defines knowingly as "with knowledge; consciously; intelligently; willfully; intentionally". Furthermore, the phrase "knowingly and willfully" in reference to violation of a statute means consciously and intentionally (Black's at 784) giving support to the proposition that "knowingly" denotes consciousness while "willfully" denotes intent. Clearly then something can be done "knowingly" without a specific purpose to

disobey or disregard the law.

Since "willfully" exacts an intent that is not required under the "knowing" standard there is no purpose comporting with logic and reason to permit circumstantial evidence in cases where specific intent is required but disallowing it in cases where only conciousness is required.

The foreseeability of injury which is apparent when a vendor provides alcohol to a minor is no less apparent when the vendor provides alcohol to one habitually addicted. As the Fifth District Court astutely pointed out in Sabo v. Shamrock, 566 So.2d 267, 268 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990) there is no policy reason for treating the proof of knowledge required by §768.125 for sales to adults differently than for sales to minors.

A vendor cannot escape responsibility for selling alcohol to a minor by neglecting to check an I.D. Likewise, a vendor should not be permitted to escape responsibility for selling alcohol to one habitually addicted by ignoring the hallmarks of addiction.

The signposts of alcoholism, which can be looked to for guidance in ascertaining benchmarks for those habitually addicted to alcohol, include constant relief drinking (Hoag drank every day [R. 136, 169, 174]); gulping drinks (Hoag drank a double every half hour [R. 39]); blackouts (Hoag has no recollection of leaving Peoples or of the accident [R.192, 195]) and aggressive behavior (Hoag became argumentative when he drank [R.185]) 1 Am.Jur. POF, Alcohlism §24, p.590

Lastly, requiring direct evidence would foster willfull blindness on vendors' part. The doctrine of "willfull blindness" or "deliberate ignorance" is well established in Federal criminal law and has been recognized in Florida criminal law in regard to constructive possession of drug cases. Wetzler v. State, 455 So.2d 511 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) The doctrine recognizes that there are situations where a party's suspicions are aroused but no further inquiry is made because the party wishes to remain in ignorance.

The Fifth District Court below properly determined evidence of constructive knowledge on the part of a vendor was sufficient to withstand a motion for summary judgment on the issue of civil liability under F.S. §768.125.

A. F.S.§768.125 should not be read in pari materia with F.S.§562.50 necessitating written notice of the customer's addiction before civil liability will attach under F.S.§768.125 for selling alcohol to said customer.

Peoples urges this court adopt the reasoning of Ellis v.

N.G.N. of Tampa, Inc, 561 So.2d 1209 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) which

conflicts with Sabo v. Shamrock, 566 So.2d 267 (Fla. 5th DCA

1990) and J.H. Pritchard v. Jax Liquors, 499 So.2d 926 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1987). Under Ellis, not only would evidence of a vendor's knowledge need to be proven by direct evidence, it must be shown a vendor had written notice of a patron's habitual addiction to alcohol before civil liability for serving alcohol would attach.

The holding in <u>Ellis</u> is grounded in reading F.S. §768.125 in pari materia with the criminal statute §562.50 which states:

for notice.—Any person who shall sell, give away, dispose or, exchange, or barter any alcoholic beverage, or any essence, extract, bitters, preparation, compound, composition, or any article whatsoever under any name, label, or brand, which produces intoxication, to any person habitually addicted to the use of any or all such intoxicating liquors, after having been given written notice by wife, husband, father, mother, sister, brother, child, or nearest relative that said person so addicted is an habitual drunkard and that the use of intoxicating drink or drinks is working an injury to the person using said liquors, or to the person giving said written notice, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082 or s. 775.083

The statutes, even though they both deal with habitual addicts, should not be read in pari materia because they are diverse in scope, aim and purpose. Singleton v. Larson, 46 So.2d 456 (Fla. 1950); J.H. Pritchard v. Jax Liquors, Inc., 499 So.2d 926, 929 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986).

The statutes, like the areas of law in which they are found, have different purposes and are for the protection of different classes of people. F.S. §562.50 is a criminal statute established in 1935 on the heels of the end of prohibition and was designed to punish vendors for serving alcohol to habitual addicts after receiving written notice of the addiction from a family member. It is designed for the protection of habitual drunkards and their families. J.H. Pritchard v. Jax Liquors, Inc., 499 So.2d 926, 929 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)

On the other hand, F.S. §768.125 is a civil statute passed 45 years later in 1980 designed to protect not only the habitual

alcoholic from himself, but also to protect third parties injured as a result of the effects of alcohol served by a business establishment. Pritchard, supra, at 929. It was enacted in the midst of a period of growing awareness and concern with the harm inflicted by intoxicated persons, particularly when they attempt to operate automobiles on a public highway. Id.

Although it appears the legislature may have obtained the "habitually addicted" language of F.S. §768.125 from F.S. §562.50 it specifically did <u>not</u> also utilize the provision concerning written notice. Even when a statute is modeled after another statute, a court should hestitate to incorporate the provisions of one into the other. Pritchard, supra, 929.

The <u>Ellis</u> court attempted to seek support for its holding by analyzing legislative intent. To do so properly, though, one must consider a number of factors including the act as a whole, the evil to be corrected, the language of the act, history of its enactment, and the state of the law already in existence bearing on the subject. <u>State v. Webb</u>, 398 So.2d 820,824 (Fla. 1981)

Taking these elements into account, the only reading which would give voice to F.S. §768.125 is that written notice is not a requirement to showing a vendor knowingly served someone habitually addicted to alcohol.

Further, when the language of the statute is plain, clear and free of ambiguity, the court is obligated to follow the plain meaning of the statute. Citizens v. Public Service Commission,

425 So.2d 534 (Fla. 1982); Carson v. Miller, 370 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1979) The legislative intent is clear from the content of the statute alone and therefore the court's function is to interpret the act so as to effectuate that intent if it can do so by application of accepted rules of statutory construction.

Armstrong v. City of Edgwater, 157 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1963)

Two of the most fundamental rules of statutory construction are that (1) the courts should construe a statute so that the plain intent of the legislature would be given effect and (2) the courts should not construe a statute in such a manner as to reach an absurd conclusion if any other construction is possible.

State Department of Public Welfare, et al. v. Bland, 66 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1953)

The law clearly requires that the legislative intent be determined primarily from the language of the statute because a statute is to be taken, construed and applied in the form enacted. The reason for this is that the legislature must be assumed to know the meaning of words and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute. Thayer v. State, 335 So.2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976)

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